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The Czech Congregation of Dominican Sisters began on the 12th of September 1889 when cloistered Dominican nuns from Gleisdorf, Styria, were invited by Blackfriars of Olomouc to devote themselves to the formation of some Third Order members who by their own wishes and the wishes of the brothers were to care for the upbringing and education of young Czech girls in the spirit of the charism of St. Dominic and according to the best national and Dominican traditions.  Their first residence was a house in Řepčín - Olomouc, and their first superior was Mother Rajmunda Jindrová, an Austrian of Czech descent.


The congregation was affiliated with the Dominican family on February 4,1908 by the master of the order, Blessed Hyacinth Marie Cormier
; but the decree of Papal approval was only obtained January 24,1944.
  In the course of their existence the Sisters built, besides a motherhouse, more daughter houses whose numbers fluctuated.  Most of the houses were in Moravia, but soon the Sisters appeared also in various activities in Bohemia, Silesia, Slovakia,
 and the U.S.A.


Their activity was directed to raising and educating children, above all those from the countryside as is shown in a speech by a school reporter at a meeting of the national committee of the town of Olomouc, which in February 1946 was concerned with the newly restored congregational school, a technical high school [“realné gymnazium,” a high school that offered fewer Latin courses and more courses that were prerequisites for engineering, architecture, etc.] in Řepčín, Olomouc. . . “according to the government program of Košice all schools which were closed by the Nazi occupiers should be opened again, and this case concerns a school closed by the Nazis.  He further declared in his report that the Řepčín institution stands fully at the top; it in no way injures established secondary school education in Olomouc, and he himself as the principal of a state school of the same type in no way fears any competition.  On the contrary, the Řepčín institution, which has a majority of students from the countryside, enables their parents to give them an education and renders them good service.”


Besides various types of schools,
 the congregation had still further activities, which always somehow connected with service of the word.  The Sisters managed various accommodations for students; but they also took care of orphans, often organized various practical courses for housewives, and during harvest time opened many shelters for toddlers and children of parents hired for the harvest, cared for the mentally handicapped and aged, and gave private lessons in music and other subjects.  Given the number of Sisters and their houses, their activity was extensive and touched a number of social groups.


The condition of the congregation, as it appeared just before the start of the communist totalitarian state is described not only in the chronicles for the years 1946-1948 but above all in the visitation report of Karel Bureš (canon of Olomouc and professor of religion in St. Maurice) drawn up for Archbishop Josef Karel Matocha of Olomouc.  Although the visitation report covers only Moravia (then the archbishop’s diocese), it is a description representative of the state of the congregation and its activities before the totalitarian state.
  (The visitation passed through Bojkovice, Křelov, Přerov, Partutovice, Vyškov, Klimkovice, Štíty, Opava, Vlaštovičky, Kokory, Jesenec, Morkovice, Vícemĕřice, Litovel and finally Olomouc Řepčín.)


As regards the number of Sisters and houses in the year 1948, the statistics of the chronicles show:  “On December 31, 1948 there were in the congregation:  216 professed choir Sisters, 144 professed household Sisters, 17 novices, a total then of 377 Sisters.”


The houses that explicitly mention the report of the visitation by the general superior from the year 1948
 and are named here are:  Bojkovice, Liptál, Hranice, Olomouc-Řepčín, Mukařov, Prague-Palata, Prague-Asyl, Prague-Výrobna, Prague-Krč, Litovel, Jesenec, Křelov, Morkovice, Vícemĕřice, Podivice, Vyškov, Brno, Střelice, Kokory, Přerov, Šilperk (Štíty), Klimkovice, Opava, Vlaštovičky, and Partutovice.  Altogether 25 houses.


The whole period of 1948-1959 could be divided into three parts:

1. Gradual curtailment of activities, annexation of property , and nationalization of schools (1948-1950)

2. Division of the congregation into two parts:  a) Sisters employed in charitable activities (They continued their previous works), and b) Sisters taken out to work in factories who eventually ended up under house arrest (1950-1954)

3. Gradual liquidation of factory employment and transfer of the Sisters to charitable establishments (1954-1959)

The above-mentioned division affected the congregation’s activities, it goes

without saying, only from the outside and tells little about other activities such as the spiritual life and its changes due to outside changes or the search for Dominican spirituality under new conditions or problems concerning the formation of Sisters.

Gradual curtailment of activities, annexation of property, 

and nationalization of schools


The chronicles of 1946-1948 mention the difficulties which accompanied the activities of the congregation after the war ended.  The largest number of schools and therefore the greatest number of problems with those activities belonged to the motherhouse in Olomouc-Řepčín.  The first major dispute appeared during the February meeting of the national commission when the members of the people’s party who protested  the declaration of the negative position to deliver the titles of our schools to the public left the session because they considered the preponderant opinion of the social democrats to be political.


But the problem of our schools grew from then on.


The worst situation set in after the publication of a new school law concerning the unification of schools, which appeared April 21, 1948.  For the Sisters its range meant a definitive end to their activity in schools.  The most important parts of this law are even recapitulated in the congregation’s chronicle.
  From these parts it followed that the Sisters became state employees and also that the actual founder from now on had to fulfill obligations to an already nationalized school.
  Because the situation was very involved, most schools took steps to cooperate with bishops who tried to obtain an exception for church schools.  In connection with this problem, Bishop Trochta visited Minister Nejedlý and obtained from him some information concerning these exceptions.  Essentially, only the secondary school for future priests and members of orders were allowed.  On the other hand, Minister Čepička insisted that the “status quo” would be preserved.  The Sisters received instructions from the bishops not to undertake anything as individuals but to wait for the bishops’ position.


Besides this paper war, another one broke out before long.  By March 3, that is to say, Inspector Travěnec and president Kubíček of the acting school committee came to nationalize the Řepčin school (fortunately the whole drive was cancelled by telephone).  A second nationalization came into effect August 31, 1949.  Four official letters announced that the local school committee ordered the control of the schools to be passed (according to the April law) into the hands of Josef Loveček, principal of the Drtinov´s secondary school in Hejčín and the kindergarten and elementary schools into the hands of the head teacher, Alois Valouch, while non-resident children were to be transferred to Horka.  On the advice of two attorneys the Sisters handed in a protest to the town’s national committee.  That battle, however, continued until September 1, when the Sisters upon returning from church with the children were surprised by director Loveček, who requested the transfer of the school.  The Sisters appealed to the decree about registered compliance, which assumed the continued existence of church schools.  A further nuisance was the attempt by inspector Travěnec who together with director Loveček had already conducted an attempt to nationalize on September 3.  During this time these attempts were not circumvented without passionate defense.
  Parents of the children also joined in defense of our schools as deputies in the Olomouc council as well as deputies to the ministry of education in Prague.  The Sisters and their schools suffered the final loss on September 24, 1948 at the meeting of the town’s educational committee which established the educational districts.  The congregation sent Dr. Vykopal as its delegate to the proceedings, and he subsequently posted a written account both to the Sisters and to the archdiocese;
 this action ended with a vote that ratified the nationalization of our schools.  A big battle was still waged over Sister teachers who from the Black Day of nationalization were state employees, according to the high council.  The Sisters had to hand in individual resignations by October 1, 1948.  Actually they could leave whenever replacements for them were found.  On this day, then, director Loveček finally succeeded in occupying the primary and secondary schools in Řepčin.  The rest of our schools followed very soon:  November 13, 1949 the technical high school was discontinued; the Sisters vacated the nursery school even before the 1948 vacations.  The nationalized secondary school was joined with the girls’ secondary school in Olomouc on March 17, 1949, the same day the professional home economics school (like the professional schools in Šilperk, Bojkovice and Litovel) was nationalized; so the convent retained only care the boarding school, house cleaning, the farmstead,  and the garden.


Not even the rest of our branch schools were spared (October 6, 1948, the town school in Liptál; October 16, 1948, the town school in Vyškov; gradually even the nursery schools in Bojkovice, Kokory, Morkovice, and Přerov were occupied; in Střelice and Vícemĕřice only the domestic school was nationalized, but the Sisters remained as state employees; in Vlaštovičky the Sisters continued to teach because their school had been a state school for a long time.)
  Only courses in cooking and sewing, boarding schools attached to them, and individual lessons (for example, music) could be in operation for one more year.  Social service was not restricted during this phase.


One of the few possibilities for meeting with children and doing their work were Bible contests, which were linked to the Sisters’ work as teachers of catechism (which was the only teaching function left for them).  The first parish round of Bible contests began March 13, 1949.  Eleven children from our Sisters’ area made it to the national round.  The contests were discontinued in the boarding schools of the bishops, who kept a hold on them. Catechetical work by the Sisters ended after the vacations in 1950 for two reasons:  a) most of the Sisters were conducted away to factories, b) school directors could not accept a catechist without permission from the SUC [Statni Urad Cirkevni, Government Office for the Church] which came only in October when lay people had graduated from the catechetical course.


A survey of the activities of the congregation from the nationalization of the schools until December 31, 1948 is also an interesting source.


With the nationalization of the schools, the buildings stopped serving as convents; and hence the Sisters in them had to unwillingly entertain many institutes.  This can be seen very nicely in the extensive complex of buildings in Řepčín.
  Already after the vacations of 1949 the dormitory of Palacký University moved into the main wing with 72 students, and after November 2 into the residence hall of the trade school as well with 60 apprentices.  On November 7 an ideological retraining course for teachers (which always lasted two weeks and had around 50 participants) was transferred to the building. This very course was the biggest charge of those the school officials gave the Sisters to complete.
  The Sisters had to cook for all the lodgers, and for this they drew pay.


Now connected to the ideology is another thing that affected the Sisters in 1949.  There was screening of university students and therefore also of the Sisters.  For Dominicans who have study as one of their five essential elements of spirituality, this was a big blow.  The outcome of the screenings probably depended greatly on the committee that did the screening and on skills in study because it sometimes happened that a Sister passed and at other times she was expelled from studies.  A typical example is Sister Mlada Nevrlá, who on January 27, 1949 passed the screening and could complete her studies
 and Sister Blandina Vĕtrovcová who on February 2 did not pass and was expelled from studies.  (In this case, background probably did not play a role, for both Sisters were of a lower social class.  Thus the outcomes of studies were comparable.)


Connected to the definite status of powerlessness in 1949 is the way the Sisters in their chronicles divided the chapter on visits into a) invited, and b) uninvited, and thus it will remain.  Visits in the category of “uninvited” are often (according to the Sisters’ words) reconnaissance excursions which anticipate future concerns.  Further indices which the Sisters read correctly and according to which they prepared themselves were “monstrprocesy”  [sensationaled trials] 
 for representatives of orders
 and the consequent internment of religious as well as their criminalization in print, and separation of young priests, novices, and clerics from the superiors in the Želiv detention camp.  The pages of the chronicle seem to be waiting in advance for when it will reach women’s congregations.


And this very significant reading of the signs of the times in the convents led to a certain preparation for the situations soon to come.  These preparations especially involved the sick and aged Sisters.  Mother Kazimíra Havelková tried to place them in relatively safe convents that performed mostly charitable work. Thus on May 6, 1950, five Sisters were moved from the endangered motherhouse to the convent in Klimkovice, which had already been established for the retirement of aged Sisters.  Two other very ill Sisters went together with the general treasurer to Kokory.
  Later Mother Kazimíra was allowed to go there also.


Another chapter is concerned with the Sisters infected with tuberculosis.  From the beginning of the congregation it was customary to send the sick and dying Sisters back to the motherhouse in Řepčin where they could be cared for better than in the field conditions of branch houses.
  Later only Sisters infected with tuberculosis came to the motherhouse because an isolated part “over the way,” which would hardly work elsewhere, was built.  These Sisters were the ones destined to be assigned on May 13, 1950, to the Kvĕta villa in Teplice near Hranice.


Further preparation counted on the fact that the Sisters gradually (and with abundant watching by unpleasant tenants) prepared to move by storing surplus furniture with relatives and friends.


The last things that Mother was still able to accomplish were to send the candidates and postulants
 home to their parents, and it was also suggested to the novices that they return freely to the world.  Since they all demonstrated a wish to stay, however, she allowed them to receive the black veil
 because with the white one they would be very different from the rest of the Sisters and would be an unnecessary target.


Among the signs that something was going to happen belonged also the liquidation of Prague-Výrobna,
 which was moved out of its modern buildings to Litomĕřice
 and then (after the denouncement of unsatisfactory buildings) to Snĕdovice.

Disruption of the Congregation into two parts

a) Sisters employed in charitable activities

b) Sisters taken to work in factories and eventually confined in house arrest

(1950-1954)


In 1950 Mother Kazimíra Havelková undertook a visitation during which an

official announcement reached her that she should come to the Government Office for the Church on September 25, 1950.  There she was ordered to move the Sisters from ten of our convents
 in two days to Bohosudov.  This strict order was, however, preceded by the meeting of superiors called to the Government Office for the Church in Prague on April 17, 1950, during which the “masters” verified the effect of illegalities performed in religious houses.  There was an unmistakable effort to lull the Sisters and the public (They set their minds at rest that there would be no more moving).  Our Sisters after the experience of moving out of Prague-Výrobna did not allow themselves to be soothed and prepared themselves further.  Already in August the women’s branches of the order started to pass on alarming information about removals.


How quickly town authorities came to occupy convents was interesting.  In

Řepčín they had not yet received the telegram from Mother about the moving when already the church agent and representatives of the JNV [“Jihomoravský národní výbor,” National Commission of Southern Moravia] from Olomouc appeared to take over the keys from the Sisters and conduct them into exile.
  Most of the houses obtained an official document for their eviction.
  And in most of the houses the possibility of staying in place, but in lay clothes as a state employee, was also proposed.  In Řepčín the superior reacted to this possibility with the words:  “We did not avail ourselves of the possibility of going into lay clothes when it was proposed to us to enter into the service of the state as teachers and professors, so certainly we will not do so now when we do servants’ work.”
  All the same, three of our Sisters “out of anxiety about a hard future” responded positively to this addition and accepted the proposal to stay in their position.  They were:  Gizela Rychlá,
 Dalimila Babíková,
 and Kolumba Ondrová.
  All these were from homes in Morkovice.


Sisters from some houses had a big problem with whether to take anything along

with them.  They were not allowed to with the excuse that everything is in place.
  


A rather dramatic display was the carting away in Vlaštovice where the citizens

stood up for the Sisters.  Besides the rioters and caterwaulers
 finally at night they even fell upon the church deputy, who was housed in the convent, and our local priest had to rescue her.


Also interesting were the arrivals of invoices from our occupied houses which

followed the Sisters to Bohosud.  The invoices concerned for the most part activities of building repair which the Sisters had started, and many kept coming for a whole year.


In the course of moving, the Sisters were isolated from the outside world,

including friends, and finally even from priests who customarily came to serve in our chapels.
  Sick and old Sisters were transferred in ambulances.

September 27, 1950 Sisters from ten houses found themselves in the Jesuit

monastery in Bohosudov. According to statistics which the relevant chronicle mentions, there were 146 of them.  Three Sisters were outside of the community and 239 Sisters were not taken out of the daughter houses.

Most of the Sisters like to remember their first night in Bohosudov as a little like the first trophy of persecution.  It was no longer uncertainty but certainty in this sense:  “Now they are behaving as we long expected.”  In view of the fact that the Sisters and their furniture were loaded separately, the first auto with needed beds arrived after midnight when the Sisters were awakened and went to unload.  Thus they spent part of the night on the ground covered with their capes and part of the night unloading furniture.  On September 28, 1950 they went to their first Mass in exile after a wakeful night and hard toil.  More than 400 more Sisters were gathered with the Dominicans.  During the first week a number of Sisters became ill from some sort of paratyphoid from bad water;
 and also the weather was not favorable for most of them, mostly due to the impossibility of heating.  There were also problems with the accommodations.  Some autos with furniture never arrived, and much of it was delivered ruined.  The Sisters maintained (whenever it was possible) the old practices.  The largest number of Sisters living together was 20 + 1, which referred to the novitiate and its directors.  In Bohosudov there was no problem with leadership because taken with the Sisters were the majority of the general councilors (except for Mother Kazimíra Havelková, who was allowed to settle in Kokory),
 and also Svatava Býčková, who held the position of vicar.

At the beginning, praying took place in the basilica because the monastery

chapel was not large enough for all; only later could the Sisters arrange another chapel.


As for work, their first need was to arrange more dignified housing for themselves.  Then the Sisters took turns as cooks, seamstresses, and laundresses to assure that the housework was done.  Most of the congregations at first did their laundry, cooking, and praying separately.  Only later did the administrator arrange for washing together in the steam laundry—then the Sisters started to take turns serving.  Some convents even brought with them part of their livestock and tools for gardening, and so housekeeping began.  For food there were even remnants of hosts, which the Sisters from Přerov and Prague kept on producing.  Employment in the same house lasted until October 16, 1950, when 14 Dominicans entered the textile mill in Nové Modlany.
  October 17, 1950 a team of 20 Sisters entered the textile mill in Trnovany, to which they commuted by bus.
  A third group of 13 Sisters was employed after October 23 in a china factory.
  For the older and sick Sisters piecework was found to do at home.  The Tena plant in Teplice asked them to rip hems for which they earned an average of 50 crowns per day, and the material was brought to them.  Other Sisters embroidered for the Rosary factory in Litomĕřice and later in Snĕdovice.  Beginning in 1951 their work changed.  Many Sisters had to go over to machines in heavy industries.  In two waves
 they were transferred to the screw factory in Vrchoslav.  Not only were the ones who had already worked in factories placed here, but also many from domestic work.  The piece work also changed—the Sisters cut and sewed children’s clothing out of remnants.  Only the work in the china factory remained theirs.  “Voluntary” obligations of the Sisters were also agricultural teams (After work they went to thin, weed, and hoe turnips, to harvest, gather flax, collect cockles, etc.).  Of these workteams the Sisters remember most of all the degradation of national property.  Rusty machinery standing winter and summer in the field, the field overgrown, unharvested grain, and the like.  In September 1951 workteams also started at the Frut factory in Teplice to process vegetables.

March 13, 1951 the “masters” looked for three Sisters to serve Archbishop

Beran, who was interned in Roželov.  For this task, three Dominicans were selected: Mlada Nevrlá, Eugenie Procházková, and Konráda Czepegová.  After April 2, they became our “Sisters in the unknown.”
  Maybe precisely in this place a little section about the Sisters in the unknown would fit in:  The first group of these Sisters (Mlada, Konráda, and Eugenie) left together with officer Krejčová to Roželov at the archbishop’s hunting lodge.
  They stayed there together with the archbishop only until April 2, 1951.  On that day they were transferred to a new dwelling from which they saw only the manor house in the middle of a park.  As they found out later after their release, it was Růžodol near Liberec.  They set up a chapel for themselves in one of the bedrooms, and two guards watched the Sisters and the archbishop day and night.
  In March 1952 Sister Eugenie was transferred back to Roželov to the interned Dr. Šrámek and Dr. Hálek.
  With her there was a Sister Bilgidis from the order of German knights.  Eugenie soon became ill there and was treated at the hospital in Semil.  Afterwards she went back to the archbishop’s.  In1952 (September), Bishop Josef Hlouch , who was up to then interned in the abandoned Franciscan monastery in Kadan, was added to the archbishop.  April 16, 1953 STB [Státní Tajná Bespečnost, State Secret Security] members took away Sister Mlada (on the occasion of a visit by her mother) to Liberec, where after an interrogation that lasted all night and inspection of her personal belongings, they settled her in Hejnic with the interned superiors.  The other two Sisters were after a hearing in Liberec taken back in the closed “black Maria” to Broumov.  After the change of personnel, both bishops were taken away to a new unknown place along with a new staff made up of Sisters from the Congregation of the Most Holy Sacrament and one Grey Sister.
  December 20, 1957 upon the request of the state head of church affairs Trávníček, three of our Sisters (Alena Chromčáková, Konráda Czepegová, and Bernarda Klementová) departed to the church dignitaries (They were: Josef Beran, Karel Skoupý, and Josef Hlouch; Jan Vojtašák also spent a short time here in detention awaiting trial).  Only at the beginning of October 1963 after the dissolution of this internment place did the Sisters find out that they were in Pabĕnice near Čáslav.  The bishops (together with the Sisters) then received partial freedom at a little villa in Mukařov.  Due to the large throng of people who came to visit them, all three were transferred (Beran to Radvanov, Hlouch to the Sisters in Šebetov, and Skoupý to Žernůvka near Brno).  With this, our Sisters’ stay in “the unknown” ended.  After Archbishop Beran was named a cardinal January 10, 1965, our Sister Alena visited him one more time and warned him that if he went to Rome he would never return; but he said that he knew this and that nothing else remained for him.  The Sisters met him again only at his funeral in Rome, which they were allowed to attend.  In April 1953 after the sudden death of Mr. Hálek, the Sisters who served him demanded leave, and so our Sister Valesie Maliňáková from Hejnic and a Sister satmartka Adjuta from Varnsdorf
 were “taken”
 to him.  Sister Valesie asked to have another Dominican with her.  On September 8 after 10 p.m. the “masters” came for Alena Chromčáková.  Finally after a futile struggle with Sister Svatava Býčková,
 they took Alena away to Valesie,
 who was with Father Šrámek.  Both were there until 1956.  When Father Šramek’s weak heart became worse, the Sisters asked for more help.  They got it on April 4, 1956 with Sister Reginalda Cahlová whom they brought directly from the factory (She was in the convent in Svoboda on the Úpa, and there the Sisters defended her).  The illness became still worse, and Sister Alena under the threat “that she would scream” finally insisted on calling a doctor, who did not help her.  April 23, 1956 Father Šramek died in the Pankrác hospital.  The funeral was on the sly in Velký Týnec near Olomouc.  They announced his death to the Sisters only on May 10 and immediately took them away to Svoboda on the Úpa.  

The greatest problems the Sisters experienced during the time they were engaged in the factories were the lack of spiritual guidance and spiritual life.  In Bohosudov they eventually tried to solve the problem by fulfilling their religious duties with some dispensations and also the readiness of chaplain Blaise to binate every day.  It is also remarkable that although the Sisters did not request it, a visit from a priest always came just when they needed it.
  A problem occurred the moment (April 18, 1951) the former Dominican
 chaplain Blaise was arrested.

The arrest of chaplain Blaise resulted in the intensification of the regimen in the

convent
 and the arrest of our two Sisters Malvína Černá and Bohdanka Knotková.  Both were arrested during the afternoon shift, but neither knew of the other’s arrest.  Only in prison did they learn the reason for their confinement.  They had a single conversation, in which one of them engaged in the other’s presence, with an unknown man.  Sister Bohdanka only answered his question, “Where is the rectory?”  Only later did she find out that this was a Polish priest who was trying to get across the border, and chaplain Blaise was to provide him with a night’s lodging.  Because he had already been watched for a long time, he involved our two Sisters in trouble.  While she lived, Sister Bohdanka vividly remembered the reason the state representative gave for their seven month sentence “Your act is not punishable, but because you religious are very fanatical and politically very backward, you will stay here seven months for re-schooling.”
  The Sisters got among those condemned to Pardubice, and after their release they announced that they would be in Broumov (as advised by the vicar general).  It is noteworthy that they were not in the department which the prisoners among themselves called “the Vatican.” Perhaps it was because two young Sisters
 who were not in demonstrable danger would not be worth it.  (It was interesting to watch the feelings of these Sisters upon their return home and the relationship the community established with them, but this cannot be the content of this work.)


Fr Jaroslav Ovečka,
 the 90-year-old Jesuit rector of the church who came for the Sisters’ Confessions thrice a week, was hardly able to keep up with more than 400 Sisters and the parish.  In addition, on June 6, 1951, officer Krejčová forbade the Sisters to visit the basilica.  Supposedly this was within the framework of the strengthened house imprisonment.  On June 19, 1951 the exhausted arch-priest Josef Zechel died suddenly at the age of 89; but the Sisters could not attend his funeral.


At the end of June 1951, 19 Sisters from Prague-Asyl
 and two Sisters expelled

from Prague-Palata (Eva Nejezová and Lidvina Vitásková) came to Bohosudov.  At this moment 164 of our Sisters were in Bohosudov.


Near the end of their stay in Bohosudov, two pieces of information reached the

Sisters:  a) the ministry of defense was interested in the convent, and b) from the Government Office for the Church came the information that the Sisters would be classified by age.


Both notices indicated an imminent moving and tearing apart of communities.

This alarming news was confirmed by the action that affected the Holy Cross Sisters on March 15, 1951 when 33 of their youngest had to take up work in state hospitals.


Our Sisters were distributed in this order:


May 27, 1951, 18 Sisters over 60 years old and a Dominican nun, Dominica

Sedláčková, were taken to Vidnava.  Sister Aimona went with them as a nurse (The superior was Václava Školařová).


June 29, 1951, 36 Sisters less than 30 years of age were taken to Varnsdorf

(Later three Sisters who were in the infirmary at the time of departure were added to them.  The provisional superior was Kvĕtoslava Denková.)  They were housed in the old court building by the jail
 and worked in the textile firm Elite.


September 28, 1951 three groups of Sisters left Bohusod at once.  The first 25

Sisters were taken off to the Velveta plant in Varnsdorf, and their lodgings were in the factory villa (The provisional superior was Eva Nejezová).


Thirteen more Sisters left for Krásná Lípa to work in the stocking factory Elita

(The superior was Xaverie Kafková).


The last group of younger Sisters numbering 12 were transported to Benešov on

the Ploučnice together with Holy Cross Sisters (The superior was Berta Tomková).


October 2, 1951 the six oldest Sisters were taken to Bílá Voda near Javorník

(The provisional superior was Vincencie Navrátilová).


The remaining Sisters (44) were transferred to Broumov in early October.


This is how the fortunes of the separate artificially created communities turned out:


Vidnava


The Sisters located in Vidnava passed through a complicated and distressful road to the border, and together with Sisters from other orders were accommodated in the seminary.
  The old Sisters had no income, and thus in their isolation they were dependent on the gifts of benefactors.
  Their biggest worry was to collect fuel
 and food.  A week after arrival, they already had to put together a workteam to go to the turnip fields; but because of the Sisters’ infirmity, after a week the order was given that the workteam must be composed of Sisters under the age of 50, of whom there was only one among them, a nurse whom the Sisters needed at home.  In September the military administrator began to be interested in the seminary property, and the Sisters were to move to Bílá Voda.  By chance the superior went to look and saw that it was in bad condition and “it leaked into the rooms.”  Finally after the Sisters’ pleas, officer Mandik decided to move them to the Borromeo convent to the storeroom and two contiguous rooms.


The source of revenue was also a problem.  The Sisters had no income.  For a

relatively long time they maintained themselves by doing housework, and every now and then they were directed to apply for a retirement pension.


Soon the community began to decrease with deaths as well as the transfer of

Sisters to Klimkovice and Broumov.  In 1956-59 the Sisters negotiated for better accommodations for the sick, but they were unsuccessful.  Eventually Vidnova was dissolved upon their being lodged in the charity house in Kadaň,
 where our aged Sisters stayed until 1998.


The community in Bílá Voda near Javorník 
 was similar to the one in Vidnava.  

The Sisters alighted at the School Sisters’ convent, and officer Brožová said:  “Who sent you here?  Where am I to put you?  There must be some mistake!”
  Two Dominican Brothers, Leopold and Cyril, who were in Bilá Voda as maintenance men in the Piarist monastery, helped the Sisters to repair the rooms where they lived.  The problems with livelihood were similar to those in Vidnava.  Only on November 12, 1951 did the new administrator Josef Strouhal order them to ask for an income, and to those not yet 65 years old he offered work in the garden for a salary of 1,000 crowns.  After April 1952 the Sisters went in workteams to the forestry nursery to plant trees.  So the Sisters also had a firewood allotment besides a salary.  They also sewed and embroidered for the Rosary manufacturer in Snĕdovice.  The general administration and the Sisters of Opava also helped them financially.  Agricultural workteams became another source of income.  This small community of Sisters was eventually gradually divided among other convents.
  The last Sister (Alberta Kvíčalová) was sent to Vidnava.


The community in Varnsdorf
 was of another sort, incorporating 39 of the

youngest Sisters.


Right after their arrival they were told a six-week indoctrination awaited them.  

They immediately refused, but the obligatory reading from newspapers was unavoidable.  All the same, they dared to walk out until the official remained by herself.
 This group of Sisters was probably the most rebellious.  The Sisters remembered how they would cut the wires of the public address system which disturbed them in the chapel and then shield the culprit.  They remember getaways to Mass carried out early in the morning  over the coal in the basement and other endeavors to hold on to the scraps of independence they had.  Due to this endeavor, the Sisters had plenty of problems.  They were forbidden to go to Mass and Confession.  They fought for every free day and were given uncertain half-truths of information about their superiors.
  Besides eight to twelve hours of work in the factory,
 they often even had to go on workteams to the fields.  Housework and religious duties awaited them only at night.  Church secretary Hladký from Liberec was too frightened to issue passes.


This community was divided into two parts on February 11, 1952.  Half traveled

to Dolní Lánov to the Texlen factory for processing flax in Horní Staré Město
 and the other to Maršov.
  On February 27, 15 Sisters were informed there was no work for them and therefore they would be shifted to Texlen in Kalná Voda, which meant rising at 3 a.m. every day.  The Sisters’ stay in Texlen was connected with the “arrest” of Sisters Valesie and Kvĕtoslava, which still had a night epilogue.  Around 10 p.m. the woman officer came to the front of the villa with four men and pounded on the door, wanting the Sisters to open up for her because she forgot her keys.  Then the men started to pry open the basement door with a hatchet.  The Sisters erected a barricade with baskets and furniture and ran to the balcony.  From there they yelled:  “Help!  The official is leading some men to us!”
  The awakened neighbors rescued the Sisters.  The men and the official left with threats.  Until morning the Sisters were burning all records they considered dangerous.  Next day the official walked around with a bandaged eye and alleged that she had to defend the Sisters from burglars.  When the pastor in the morning asked the Vrchlab church secretary what happened, he admitted that they only wanted to find out how the Sisters reacted to the arrest of their fellow-Sisters.


On November 10 the Sisters were removed from Lánov to Svoboda on the

Úpa River.
  Although the plant forced them to take night shifts,
 in the end there was no work for them in the establishment.


One of the big problems of the Sisters in Svoboda as well as elsewhere was their

categorical refusal to vote.  They were coaxed and threatened, but the Sisters in the 1950s did not go to the elections; and when they did, they crossed out everything (as happened in 1958 in the community from Svoboda on the Úpa).


In June 1953 they were disturbed by the news of a law being prepared to destroy

religious and congregations.  It was brought to them by Václava Školařová during the time the superiors were isolated in Hejnic.
  She was the only member of the general council who could govern the Congregation.  Fortunately, the feared law never appeared.


After 1955 the Sisters from Svoboda gradually began to trail off.  Workers 

were dismissed from Texlen and began to transfer to agricultural work, but the leaders began to use the Sisters as a work force for existing charitable establishments.
  In March 1958 the Sisters sent an inquiry to Broumov asking whether they could give a notice to quit and go off.  Sister Svatava gave them permission to make a notice to quit, but the factory did not accept it (The director ordered the firm’s physician to ignore it).  In May the director of the factory sent word to Broumov that he would gradually release the Sisters until the end of the year.  Still on May 22, 1958 the Sisters presented to the ONV [Okresní Národní Výbor, District People’s Committee] a request concerning definite approval of termination of employment.  As reasons they introduced three points:

1. We were brought against our will.

2. We have already been working for seven years in a setting which is dangerous for health.

3. As religious we have the vocation for serving in charitable homes where we are needed, and we want to move there.

On June 4 the answer came that they would be released when Texlen got

substitutes for them.  After their release from the factory, the Sisters left on January 14, 1959 for charitable institutions.


Part of the community which was taken away to Maršov
 on February 20, 1952 experienced there a “drive for Hejnice,”
 which was implemented June 29, 1952, and a few more arrests;
 but in June there was already talk of a new moving of Sisters (The plant manager wanted to save the Svoboda boarding school for Texlen).  Both communities then joined again as one.  But some Sisters went to Kalná Voda and others to Maršov to work.


Another group of Sisters was sent to Benešov above the Ploučnice River where they had to lodge in a glass-making warehouse.  They went to work in two shifts and worked in the laundry of the Benar firm.  At first the director of lodging, Mr. Chmelař, gave them relative freedom (For example, they could just announce to the doorkeeper when they left the house), but later the regime hardened (He took away their key to the house, and a new house imprisonment began).


Because more Sisters from Slovakia were headed for Benešov,
 the firm’s director let the Dominicans be taken to the old warehouse in Františkov.  (They lived in a small old villa, which originally served as a boarding house for working-class students and teachers and later was converted into a warehouse.)
  The afternoon shift went to Mass in Benešov, and the other shift had Mass at home at night.  Besides problems with the tempo of the work, which was very fast for them, the Sisters also had problems with Sundays and holy days, which the factories were not willing to give them.
  They conducted bitter arguments about them with official Capoušková and church official Seidel, local church secretary Tichý, and finally also with one member of the State Secret Security.  Strangely enough the factory leadership (concretely, director Vebr) favored them.  “I wouldn’t give five Sisters for twenty workers.  You haven’t yet seen them loafing at the windows.”
  At the beginning of June the Sisters submitted a request to the Government Office for the Church asking that their right to celebrate holy days (They wanted six per year) be respected.  The argument was finally solved by the fact that on June 22, 1952 the superiors were taken away to Heinic (whereas it was explained to the Sisters as an arrest and threat of trial).  With our Sister Berta, Sister Heřmana was also taken away because she did not want to leave her.  On July 2 the Sisters quietly elected Sister Lidvina as superior, but neither the supervisor nor any other guard found out about it.  The Sisters’ letters were often withheld, and they found out how things really were in Heinic
 only with the visit of Sister Svatava.  Requests for relief for health reasons were turned down.
 Finally the argument ceased when, even though the official called on the SNB [Stáni Národni Bezpečnost, National Government Security] and State Secret Security, no one came and no recourse came.


A different problem came with the entrance of students into a nearby apprentice training center. In the factory dining room, offensive posters with caricatures of the Pope began to appear.  Even though the Sisters protested, the administration did nothing to remove them.  After the death of Stalin and Gottwaldov, a notice appeared in the weaving: “God’s mills grind slowly but surely.”  The culprit, however, was not found.


The unexpected end of this association came in 1954.  Even during the threats, the Sisters decided not to go to the elections of May 16, 1954.
  Already on May 20 Mrs. Prečanová from the Government Office for the Church strolled through the plant and announced to the Sisters in the office that they had just been dismissed because someone was needed in charitable institutions to replace the German Holy Cross Sisters who had departed for their motherhouse in Switzerland.  But the official presented it as a punishment for voting. The Sisters were sent to Svojkov.
  This charitable home could only receive eight Sisters, so the others were distributed to Broumov, Snĕdovice, and Střelice.


Another group of Sisters was taken away from Bohosudov to Krásná Lípa.  Probably the worst external conditions of all were in this community.  The Sisters had only iron beds with mattresses and received other furniture (chairs, tables, cabinets, and nightstands) only a month later.  In the entire home there was for 86 inhabitants only one bathroom with one bathtub, but the water often did not flow.  But at least the sanitary facilities were better because for 86 Sisters two toilets had to suffice.  Badly broken windows and a non-functional discharge system completed the picture.  Twelve Slovakian Dominicans slept on the veranda with broken windows without heating, and six Basilian Sisters huddled in the slanting attic where even the smallest of them could not stand without tilting her head.  Nevertheless, as regards the spiritual direction
 and reception in the factory, they were well-off.
  With the arrival of Mrs. Jaškevcová as director of the residence, the Sisters were invited to re-training; and when they showed no interest, pressure became more intense and was accompanied by threats (prohibition to participate in Holy Mass).  The Sisters said that as long as they were not able to go to Mass, they would not go to work either and would go to Prague after which no one compelled them.


After the Sisters’ complaints about housing, the leaders of the factory promised them a dwelling for 20 Sisters (November 19, 1951).  In November Mrs. Jaškevcová posted a list of 20 Sisters who were supposed to be transferred to an unknown place, which did not respect the order’s boundaries.  The Sisters finally agreed that they would go as a congregational unit in two days, and they had to know where.  On November 30 they left for Broumov, where six Basilians
 were separated from them, and our Sisters again stayed with their own.  Svatava Býčková requested that their work would be making hosts.


Another group of Sisters was taken off to Varnsdorf, but not to the old court like the Sisters younger than 30.  Their quarters were the villa of the factory owner Liebische and then the Červená villa.
  They worked in the Velveta factory mostly as laundresses in three shifts.  They had to turn in all their food coupons to the plant dining room; but because the food did not suffice, they became thin.  Later they were allowed to cook at least breakfast and supper for themselves at home, obtaining supplies from the dining room.  This group of Sisters was noted for putting together a musical group which traveled to “concertize” in factories and charitable establishments.
  They acquired such prestige that the Ministry of Industry knew about them.  Probably the most famous event of their activity became the hop-plant group in Břežan near Žatec, which attracted a great many people to the Tamĕ church (chorus and music makers).  People who began to come to the services regretted the departure of the Sisters.


Spiritual life was difficult in Varnsdorf; two priests for 400 religious were not enough.


When conditions began to change in 1954 and the Sisters were dismissed, the Dominicans went to Hejnic and secretly (under a window) talked to Mother Kazimíra, who advised them to go to Broumov.  Thus when they were asked after the dismissal whether they wanted to go to the retirement home in Česká Kamenice, they pointed out the needs in the charitable institutions where their Sisters were.  The last three Sisters were dismissed on March 31, 1955.


The last and largest group of Sisters was the one taken to Broumov.  Paradoxically, there is not much information about Broumov in the chronicle even though later it became the seat of the general administration.  We know that the Sisters moved here in two groups at the beginning of October.
  So on November 30 the Dominican group was augmented by 13 Sisters from Krásná Lipa.  We know that their work was making and delivering hosts, but also serving on many fieldwork teams, at least in the beginning.
  It seems that this group of Sisters, because of their health and age, remained in protected work at the Broumov Véba factory, where they also sent the Holy Cross Sisters quartered in Broumov.  In the end things did not change even after the arrival of Dominicans from Krásná Lípa.  Here the Sisters after a long time also met Dominicans in the person of Brother Leopold, who did maintenance work for them.  In 1954 the charity organization
 took over the making of hosts and church vestments.  The chronicle also describes the Sisters’ struggle over the right not to vote.
  A further dramatic event was the arrest and isolation of the Broumov superiors.
  The Broumov community in fact continues to this day because in 1990 the whole community moved to Bojkovice, where the majority are now Sisters from Broumov.

Sisters under house arrest or “isolation of reactionary Sisters”


In this part, it is necessary also to mention Hejnice, which was established to “isolate reactionary Sisters.”
  “Recruiting”
 for Heinic was implemented the 28 and 29 of June, 1952.  Later 72 nuns located there, mostly superiors from 16 orders.  The largest group was made up of Dominicans.


They had a big problem participating at Mass because often the priest did not come, so they resorted to reciting the Mass without a priest and to praying.  The convent was completely enclosed, and armed men always walked around the area.  The accommodations were such that in each bedroom there were Sisters of different orders.  The regimen was supposed to be like in blocks for detention and inquisition.
  The Sisters did piece work, which was brought to them;
 and from the income they met the costs of their lodging and food.  Besides that, they had to do housework and gardening.  The official was the former guerrilla Černíková, who exercised extra heartlessness toward the Sisters.  Later she formed a different opinion about the Sisters, but because it did not suit the governing body, she was replaced September 15, 1952 by the less influential Jaroslavá Hejlová.  The Sisters were eavesdropped upon (They came upon equipment of this sort soon after their arrival; it was in the chapel) and got small portions of food (because they were treated like the unemployed).


On June 22, 1953 a move to Osek was announced to the Sisters; a “work team” was to go ahead to prepare the house for the rest.


In Osek the Sisters met priests of whom there were still 50 out of 300.  Three months later they transferred the Mother superiors back
 and soon after that the priests as well.  The house was changed into a charitable institution.  Identification cards were returned to the Sisters, and the regime became more tolerable.  Our last Sisters left from here in October 1954.


After the Sisters left for Osek, 42 Sisters stayed in Hejnic, including four Dominicans.
  They took Sister Valesie into the “unknown” on April 14, 1953; and on April 17, 1953 they brought back from the “unknown” Sister Mlada, who however moved to Osek in June.


After June 1954 our Sisters were gradually discharged.  The Prague Sisters took Mother Kazimíra home on May 24, 1955.  Our last Sister discharged was Sister Berta, who left Hejnice on October 25, 1955 because she had to finish work in the office.  The convent at that time had already been transferred to the Czech Ursulines.


There is not much news about Hejnice in the chronicle, but the remembrances of that period by some Sisters were preserved.

Sisters in charitable institutions

For the Sisters who were not taken to Bohosudov and stayed in their homes, much also changed in their activities.  All the convents were urged to go over to social nursing activity,
 even if before then they had not necessarily practiced it.  Most of these houses functioned as board and lodging institutions for the very old or as institutions for the mentally deficient.  Where there were orphanages, the Sisters usually were ordered to exchange the children, whom they had to hand over to children’s homes, for the mentally deficient or to turn the institution into a retirement home.  Many Sisters still attempted in the early 1950s to teach religion or music,
 but later this activity was also forbidden.


As concerns the property of these institutions, all was brought under [state] charity no later than 1951 so that the Sisters remained only as employees; and their home really belonged to the state.  Every chronicle mentions the numbers and activities of charitable institutions directed by the Dominicans.


The charitable institutions which the Sisters served were changing.  And with the diminishing number of Sisters, they also decreased.  Nevertheless, some exist which functioned for a long time, practically the whole productive life of the youngest Sisters.
  Examples of charitable homes are:
  Lukov near Holešov (only until 1954) Jesenec, Klimkovice,
 Kokory, Liptál, Mukařov, Opava, Prague-Palata institution for the blind, Snĕdovice (manufacture of devotional articles and church vestments and institution for handicapped girls), Střelice and Vícemĕřice.


In the charitable institutions, the farmstead also was under the Sisters’ care.  In 1948 a law came out according to which all real estate was taken, therefore convent property also.  The Sisters generally put in an application for exemption of land from annexation for the sake of community service.  A typical example was the home in Jesenec where the land was used by their wards for their employment as well as their support.  Nevertheless, eventually the entire land was gradually taken away from the Sisters and the institutions.
  This is readily seen in Jesenec where the Sisters in 1951 according to regulations joined the so-called socially controlled economy, which meant that they were told what crops and how much to sow, how to raise the farm animals, etc.  From this activity they had to derive food rations. Regulations about the permitted use of food
 accompanied these planned economies.  In the social establishments, as was the case with our Sisters, each person could comsume 3 kilograms of white flour, six kilograms of bread, 10 kilograms of potatoes, 1.8 kilograms of sugar, and 2.1 kilograms of meat per month.


The movement of the Sisters in charitable institutions was also restricted from 1952, as issued by the Government Office for the Church in Prague.  For every trip outside the district, they had to ask for permission from the church secretary of the District People’s Committee; and for a trip outside the border even permission from the church official of the KNV [Krajský Národni Výbor, Regional People’s Committee].  They could not leave the house without the foreknowledge of the administrator of the institution (not even to shop or go to the doctor).  And even when the trip was allowed, they had to have an exemption, which the doctor or the store had to validate.


Even visits were checked.  Everyone had to be registered in a book in which was noted:  name, purpose of the visit, length of the visit, and domicile.

The Liptál scandal


Probably the worst situation for the Sisters in charitable service happened in the spring of 1957 in Liptál.  It dealt with a scandal in which six of our Sisters were arrested for treasonous activity.  The superior of the house at that time, Pavlína Minařiková, with the knowledge of several other Sisters, was helping the Salesian Václav Filipec, who was hiding since 1950 because he knew that as the new visitor of Salesian monasteries he could not perform his duty under state supervision; so he went underground.  He often hid in the Liptál rectory (Fr Bohuslav Zrůnek was like a benefactor to the Dominicans as well as a benefactor of the Salesian movement), but often he also used the hiding place the Sisters provided him.  Because Father Zrůnek died in 1952, the Sisters took Father Filipec into the convent, where they arranged a room for him.  Illegally Father Filipec led young Salesians and wrote encouraging letters, which the Sisters copied for them.


At the end of 1956 several groups of Salesians that Father Filipec directed were apprehended, so it was only a matter of time when his turn would come.  So he left the Sisters’ convent for elsewhere.


On February 13, 1957 the convent was surrounded by members of the State Secret Security, who got there without the knowledge of the Sisters through the boiler-room.  They searched the whole house; and in the attic they found a box of books left by Father Filipec, which they confiscated.  They led the superior away to the local national committee, where they interrogated her for several hours.  She was actually arrested on February 25, 1957.  Meanwhile, they again searched the house several times; but they found nothing more.


On March 26 they also arrested Sister Vladislava Šumberová for participation in harboring Father Filipec.  They tried to nail down all the “secret hiding places” which the Sisters had in the house.  In reality there was only one (about a meter deep under the floor of a bedroom) which the Sisters prepared for the priest.  It was declared that another hiding place was the drain for the central heating pipeline, planking in the garret, and a built-in cabinet.  For instruction about the reactionary Sisters, they brought busloads of workers to be convinced of their “perverseness.”


The newspapers were also soon brought in on the scandal, which they in due course adorned and enlarged.  Above all, they asserted that the Sisters acted improperly and immorally.  The Sisters tucked three newspaper clippings into their chronicle.


Father Filipec was not arrested until he attempted to cross the state border at Bohosudov on April 1, 1957.  He was sentenced in a trial on September 15 to nine years for subverting the republic, thwarting the state oversight of churches, and attempting to cross the state border.


The trial of Sister Pavlína Minařiková was held with a big workers’ participation on August 27, 1957 in Vsetín. Besides her, Antonín Chromčák and his brother, who extended help to the priest when he fled, and also Sister Vladislava were judged in the same trial for subverting the republic.
  A witness against the Sisters, Božena Jakubíková-Psotová, whom the Sisters took in in 1930,
 was heard.  She gave fabricated testimony that they beat the orphans and did not feed them. When Sister Pavlína asked permission to have other children testify, it was not granted.


The trial for the rest of the detained Sisters took place in Uherské Hradiště on October 8, 1957.  The sentences were:  Marie Pištĕková (one year for conniving in the activity of Father Filipec), her sister Dagmar Pištĕková (half a year for the same thing), Miloslava Vidláková (one and a half years for the same), Sisters Dominica Řepová and Veronika Ševčiková (two years for subverting the republic by spreading spiritual publications), Julietta Foltýnová (half a year for conniving), and Helena Prusíková (two years for aiding subversive activity).  The sentence was served in the Pardubice prison, but some of the Sisters were released with pardons. 


On account of this scandal, the Sisters could no longer stay in Lyptál.  Mother got instructions from the Government Office for the Church that the Sisters would be transferred to charitable establishments in Hodonín and Buchlovice.  The Sisters left on August 16, 1957 with only their personal belongings (Nothing from the convent could be carried away even though most of the items were acquired by the Sisters at their own expense).

Gradual removal from factory employment

and transfer of the Sisters to charitable establishments (1954-1959)


Each factory distribution was eliminated at a different time according to a long-term perspective.  Many Sisters went through several activities before they got to an institution that had charitable social activity.  And this circumstance caused the departure of Sisters (even with vows).  Besides the Sisters already mentioned who took advantage of the possibility of staying in their positions as laity, the chronicles mention other Sisters who left around the time of being put into factories but more left afterwards.  Not only did the Sisters who passed through the factories leave, but also Sisters who served only in charitable institutions.  It is interesting to look at the listing the chronicles offer.

1951 “In Prague-Palata Sister Iva Kozubíková, a certified nurse, worked with

the blind.  From her entrance in 1950 she was constantly ailing, so there was little work activity. Therefore she resolved to leave that place of work.  She left the institution and at the same time the congregation on March 28, 1951.  There was no objection to her leaving because she was not bound by any vows.”
 

1952 In this year the chronicle mentions four departing Sisters, but only

three left the Congregation.  Sister Sixta Skálová reflected on her decision in Snĕdovice and stayed.  Sister Demetrie Adamová, who worked on the Střelice farmstead, left the congregation because she was going to be transferred.  She decided rather to leave and went to her mother in Slovakia.  Another Sister who left was Noemi Kleinová, originally from Slovakia.  After a vacation with relatives, she returned to Varnsdorf
 already in lay clothes and asked for a dispensation from vows, with which she was satisfied.  Both Sisters received from the congregation a dowry and trousseau.
 The last Sister was Pavla Cáhlová about whom no details are mentioned besides the date of departure, April 10, 1952.

1953 In this year no Sister left, according to the chronicle.

1954 In this year one of the Sisters who had already attempted to leave

departed, Sister Sixta Skalová.  The chronicle mentions the disapproval of her mother of these proceedings and a ward who ran away with her.

1955 In this year Sister Gabriela Součková, who had already been considering

departure when she was in Svoboda on the Úpa, left the congregation.  She was dissatisfied with her work in the social institute.  “New duties in cleaning and nursing in the social charity institution in Opava . . . satisfied her nonchalant and easily wearied disposition even less than one-sided factory work…” Sister Vlastislava Jochová was also dismissed from the congregation for health reasons (a genetic burden from her family, a nervous breakdown).
 

1956 Two Sisters left on their own request this year (They were given dispensations from final vows.), Kristina Filipková from Střelice and Karolína Michalková from Jesenec.  Lucie Kubaníková was dismissed from the Opava branch for lack of religious spirit.

1957 This year Sister Amata Jochcová followed her sister for the same reason.

There were no objections to her departure because she did not have final vows.


All together in this period, eleven Sisters left the congregation.


Another interesting thing from the chronicles of the years 1955-1959 is the fact that the chronicles are more brief and prefer to conceal many things.  The Sisters’ remembrances are more picturesque, say, in the chapters which theoretically the chronicle should cover.




To evaluate this type of work would certainly be possible, but perhaps it will be better to leave it open-ended.  Maybe everyone can draw his or her own conclusions.  In the course of studying the sources, further questions arose which would not fit within the scope of this work.  For example, the spiritual life of the sisters in the factories (provided we define a religious as a woman of prayer, then…) or the studies of the Dominican Sisters with which they not only nourish their prayer but which are an essential trait of their spirituality.  Other themes are the relationships of the Sisters which the totalitarian regime tried to disturb (and often succeeded) or ethical problems that accompanied the Sisters’ lives.  It would probably be worthwhile also to elaborate on the financial relationships of the individual houses, both state and charity, which at first glance can appear as life-saving, but who knows what it really was.
  Another theme could be the apostolate conducted under unexpected conditions
 or the problem of collaboration and relationship among different orders, and many other themes.


Another big problem that appears is the manner in which to pass on the experiences of these years to a new generation
 and at the same time not discourage it.  Maybe the way to make any historical epoch come alive for today’s world is not to draw easily forgotten and simplistic conclusions but only to offer a picture, a fresco of the period.
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�	See the book of rules and directives of the Czech congregation of Dominican Sisters, Brno, 2000, p. 13.


�	The text of the decree of incorporation into the Order and its translation are in the book of the rules and directives of the Czech congregation of Dominican Sisters, Brno, 2000, pp. 146-148.


�	The text of the decree and its translation are in the book of the rules and directives of the Czech congregation of Dominican Sisters, Brno, 2000, pp. 149-151.


�	Our Sisters already had to leave the convent in Košice after November 2, 1938 because the Viennese covenant joined these districts to Hungary.  It is true that the Sisters in Slovakia immediately founded two more houses (in Humenné and Petrovany), but after the creation of the Slovak state there was not in the country (and especially not in Slovakian convents) the will to have the Czech Sisters stay; and that is why Bishop Čarský sent the general superior a letter in which he proposed the establishment of an independent province in Slovakia (November 13, 1940).  However the legal conditions for the inception of a new province were not realized, and that is why Mother refused.  On March 25, 1941 the Czech superior from Petrovany was expelled from Slovakia. (She was conveyed to Hodonín since it was her native town), and Bishop Čarský asked that a Slovak be named as prioress.  Mother catered to his desires.  After the foundation of a third home in Trebišov, as church law demanded, the bishop took advantage of this situation and sent to Řepčín a decree on the organization of the Slovakian province (August 1, 1942) in which he made it possible for all the Sisters to decide whether they would stay or go back to Řepčín.  Before the general administration could answer, a letter came from the newly named superior of the Slovakian Sisters, Fr Inocent Müller, in which he announces that the bishop established a new congregation in Slovakia with the request that all the teachers of Slovak descent and two lay Sisters be sent to Slovakia.  The whole situation finally petered out as utter nonsense and was remedied by Bishop Čarský’s establishing in Slovakia the congregation of Blessed Imelda, into which he also brought Sisters with vows in the Czech congregation.  This time also with the permission of Rome and consent of our generalate.  This happened on August 11, 1943.  There was also a problem with the return of Czech Sisters who did not want to stay in Slovakia.  Fr Inocent Müller accused them of disobeying the bishop.  Finally they came home from Slovakia in 1943 with a visa from Berlin.  


�	At the general chapter held in 1949, the Sisters from America requested independence, which was granted by taking a vote (The chapter was held from March 30 to July 7, 1949).  


�	In Chronicle of the Congregation of Bl. Zdislava of Sisters of the Third Order of St. Dominic 1946, p. 9.  (Hereafter cited as chronicle in this translation.)  News about the action (as well as the evaluation of the congregation’s activities) was also sent out thanks to director Růžička in Našinec at the end of February 1946.   


�	A more detailed account of this activity can be found in the graduate work of Sister Miriam. Hrřebačková, Helena,  A Brief Sketch of the Dominican Sisters in Education.  Olomouc 1993. 


�	The visitation report is deposited in the provincial archives of Opava, branch of Olomouc, in the archdiocesan document collection. 


�	Chronicle 1948 p. 61. 


�	Chronicle 1948 p. 2. 


�	Chronicle 1946, pp. 9-10.  (“We protest against this court ruling because we regard it as a violation of collaboration on the part of the national front. . . . An opinion in favor of the matters of the Řepčin school not only costs the town nothing but on the contrary the school benefits and does not burden the town.  We see in this court ruling an undemocratic act with which the right of parents to teach their children in the Christian spirit is restricted.”) 


�	Chronicle 1948, pp. 16-19. 


�	“…the retainer is obliged even without compensation to maintain the school and exclude all unqualified agents.” Chronicle 1948, p. 29 


�	“…the inspector replied, “You are disobeying the laws!  We are the law and have plenty of power to carry out our closings.”  The Sisters answered, “We are not disobeying the implementation of the law, but we are waiting for its fulfillment according to the given instructions.  And while the negotiations between the government and the bishops are not finished, you do not have the right to disrupt our schools and take something from us.”  The inspector replied, “We are making up for Bílá Hora.  It’s for how the Lichtensteins and those like them dealt with the Czech people.”  The head mistress answered, ”But the Lichtensteins were Germans, and we are Czechs. You blame Bílá Hora on us?  And for what?  Perhaps because we established the first Czech institution in Olomouc?  in Vyškov after the Germans the first Czech school for the middle class?  For the fact that we fought at the German border with unfriendly institutions and with sacrifices founded Czech schools--as in Vlaštovičky, Kravaře, Klimkovice Šilperk, and Hungarian Košice?  Is not a clear proof that our congregation is genuinely Czech the fact that the Germans under the protectorate closed our schools, threatened us with the Gestapo, carried out inspections, and martyred a Sister in the concentration camp?”  Chronicle 1948, p. 26.   


�	It is a component of the archdiocesan document collection (inserted in the unit together with the visitation of Karel Bureš) by right deposited in the provincial archive of Opava branch Olomouc. 


�


	�For 20 years, it seems. 


�	Chronicle 1948, pp. 35-37. (Motherhouse:  the Sisters teach the higher grades in the technical high school and in the OSZP (Oddeleni Socialni a Zdravotni Peče, the Department for Social and Health Care); they also conduct a boarding school.  On the farm they work a 20-hectare field;


	Bojkovice: they teach in the nationalized Department for Social and Health Care and nursery school, give private music lessons, conduct the boarding school and orphanage, and teach cooking-housekeeping courses.  A smaller farm and garden belong to the institution;


	Brno:  a year-round course in home economics, boarding school, private music lessons;


	Hranice:  villa Kvĕta, housing for guests;


	Jesenec:  care of an institution for aged, and abandoned women and a farm;


	Kokory: orphanage, sewing and cooking course, girls’ boarding school, nationalized nursery and farm (larger);


	Křelov:  orphanage and larger farm;


	Klimkovice:  the Sisters here completely changed their activity; after the discontinuation of the OSZP the house was arranged for retired Sisters;


	Liptál:  orphanage and larger farm; position for the pastor’s profession;


	Litovel:  teaching in the nationalized Department for Social and Health Care and boarding school;


	Morkovice:  orphanage, teaching in the nationalized nursery school and large farm;


	Mukařov: convalescent home for wards, Asylum with a farm;


	Opava: board and lodging institute for elderly women;


	Prague-Asyl:  orphanage and making and dispatching hosts;


	Prague-Výrobna, manufacture of church vestments and rosaries with crippled wards;


	Prague-Krč:  convalescent home for children from the Asylum;


	Prague-Palata:  Sisters conducted the administration of the institution for the blind and cared for them;


	Přerov:  orphanage, private music lessons, and manufacture of hosts;


	Šilperk:  teaching in the nationalized school for women’s occupations, course in cooking and sewing, boarding school;


	Střelice:  teaching in the nationalized domestic school, care of the farm and of the mentally deficient;


	Vícemĕřice:  analogous to Střelice;


	Vlaštovičky:  teaching in the state national school and children’s shelter;


	Vyškov:  cooking course and boarding school; the state schools took over most of the buildings.   


�	A similar situation is also evident in other convents. 


�	Worse, the Sisters apprehended dialectical materialism through the lectures of an apostate priest, Dr. Šula, and the reality that their former students had to participate in the same course. 


�	She passed the last state examinations on June 2, 1950. Chronicle 1950, p. 85.  


�	Among the questions there appeared:  Opinion of the Husite period and the burning of Hus.  How do you explain the discrepancy between faith and life in the church.  Why did you become a religious.  What does the papal hoarding of property and the poverty in the neighborhood of the Vatican say.  Why the church blessed the Germans.  What do you know about the injustice of the church, especially the position of Tisa, Šrámek, and Plojhar.  How will you teach with the diverse opinions about the contemporary period… Chronicle 1949, p. 12. 


�	From March 21 to April 5, 1950; in this group of religious men were VítTajovský, Augustin Machálka, Stanislav Barták, František Šilhán, Adolf Kajpr, František Mikulášek, Silvestr Braito, Jan Urban, Jan Blesík and Jan Mastilák.  Some priests and religious were already arrested in 1948 (for example, Metoděj Habáň, OP, or Jiři Veselý, OP) in connection with reading the pastoral letter of June 15, 1949.  Besides them, many priests who did not fear threats and read the letter were arrested. 


�	The Sisters were most affected by the process of Silvester Braito, OP, who only after his release could explain the situation to them.  Sister Božislava Pálková writes in her memoirs (deposited in the congregational archive in Brno):  “Our Father Braito was blamed for communicating with the Catholic information service in Paris to which he supposedly sent regular news about our economic, political, cultural and religious situations.  He contested that he would have been aware of their misuse by the Vatican for his aggressive purposes.  In radio broadcasts we heard how falsely Father testified about himself and how sorry he was.  We could not understand whether he was really the one talking. . .  After his release from prison he told us that he learned the statements and had to say them, otherwise he was threatened with the death penalty.  He was to be tried either for fabricated moral offenses or for treason.  He chose treason because defiling his honor of chastity would harm the order.”    





�	One of them, Celina Vanková, former novice mistress and general secretary died after the transfer.


�	This situation gave stimulus to the printed attack on “the deadly milieu of Řepčin” which destroys young people.  From the outside it could really appear this way since after the world war on the average two Sisters per month were dying for lack of nourishment and the tuberculosis  connected with it.    


�	Eight Sisters and two nurses.  Unfortunately they even confiscated this villa in 1950, and so some of the sick Sisters went to Bohosud and others to various sanatoriums and hospitals or to relatives, where they spent the worst period. 


�	Unless it was done quietly enough, they were accused of stealing. 


�	Of these only one, Sister Eva, who waited many years for her investiture, returned to the congregation when conditions were more favorable (1969). 


�	This happened right away in April after the brothers were taken away, and to both novitiate classes (the one of January, 1950 and the one of August, 1950 who received the black veil right away). 


�	Most of the Sisters of those investitures are still alive and recount accordingly that they wore the black veil even though most of them made vows only in 1951 or 1952 in the factories.  (The white veils of the domestic Sisters were already discontinued by the previous general chapter upon the request of most of the Sisters.) 


�	The Sisters and the physically or mentally handicapped wards here produced church vestments and devotional articles. 


�	February 10, 1950 the manufacture was moved to the former seminary building, which was greatly damaged during the war and only provisionally repaired.  Bishop Štĕpán Trochta of Litomĕřice offered them this housing.  After the house was repaired the military administration began to be interested in it, and so the Sisters had to move again.  After being offered a few small and unsuitable buildings, they finally got orders to move themselves and their 70 wards to Snĕdovice (November 13-15, 1950).  It was the dilapidated summer domicile of the counts of Oppensdorf located in a swampy region. 


�	They were:  Bojkovice, Brno, Vyškov, Horni Krč, Křelov, Morkovice, Partutovice, Přerov, Vlaštovičky and of course Olomouc-Řepčín.  The Sisters were most surprised by the moving from the borderlands of Bojkovice, Morkovice and the small house in Křelov, about which move they found out only on March 25 from local authorities. 


�	It concerned the expulsion of the Sisters of St. Cyril and Methodius from Brno along with their mentally ill wards to Filipov on the border. This moving occurrence did not pass without an incident, which was the locking of a Sister into the institution for the mentally ill.  But also the Sisters of the Immaculate Conception from Přerov, whom they took to the same place (March 13, 1950), and also the Poor Clares (They were few in number because their German Sisters had already been transferred earlier) from Litomĕřice (August 20, 1950) whom they moved to Turnov, about a month later they brought the Prague Carmelites to them.  Most of the women’s convents were emptied August 30, 1950: the Norbertines from Kopeček and Nove Rise along with the Franciscans from the retirement home at Kopeček, the Slovakian Dominicans, the Slovakian Ursulines, and others.


�	They made a detour to seize also our villa for rest in Kopeček.  Later a teacher from Kopeček lived in it.  


�	An example of such a document is in supplement 1. 


�	Chronicle 1950, p. 121. 


�	Sister Gizela stayed as a governess and in 1951 married the manager of the institute, Rudolf Gebauer. 


�	Sister Dalimila stayed as a teacher in the nursery school. 


�	Sister Kolumba only took advantage of the possibility to leave the congregation and did not stay in Morkovice. She returned home to take care of her aged parents. 


�	Chronicle 1950, p. 128. “To these Sisters they also promised lodging in a house furnished with everything necessary and added a threat:  It would be a crime to impoverish the children here and take from here more than personal clothing and a few supplies for a beginning.”  These words concerned the convent n Bojkovice. 


�	One young man tied the convent bell to a rope, which he led into the cottage of a neighbor; and at the time of hauling off he started to ring the bell so no one would miss it.  During the carrying away another girl boxed the ears of the lady commissioner from behind and ran away. 


�	An exception was the invoice from Vlaštovičky, which concerned unspent subsidies for the school’s aides.  The Sisters gave this one to one of the teachers who came to take over the school and the convent building, but he renounced it.  Then a telegram came to Bohosud:  “We cannot send you potatoes dug up out of your field; with the earnings from your potatoes we paid the remaining debt to your teachers.”  In its own way this was an apology because most of the fields of our confiscated convents were harvested not only without compensation but also without reference to what went where.  


�	For example, Fr. Antonín Dominik from Křelov wanted to say goodbye to the Sisters, but he was not allowed further in.  The Sisters could only wave at him from the windows of the buses. 


�	The illness was accompanied by high fever, and many Sisters endured it several times in succession.  One of ours (Ancila Nedĕlniková) got permission from Mother and was sent for treatment to her brother, who was a priest and who kept her there until the end of the Sisters’ assignment to factories. 


�	Every now and then the “masters” used the argument that when she settled in Kokory she relinquished the leadership of the congregation. 


�	Three were employed in the office and four in the factory kitchen, where the number of people taking meals soon increased. 


�	Three were in the office, one as a graduate nurse with the doctor and the rest as blue-collar workers.


�	Big respiratory problems occurred here due to breathing in the hot dust from the scraped china. 


�	In February and March, 1951. 


�	Besides these three Sisters gradually more of our Sisters took turns with various prelates with whom they spent time in isolated and unknown places.  One could write to them, but to a post office box, and no one knew where they were.  The one who spent the longest time with interned prelates was our Sister Alena Chromčáková, who wrote an extensive memoir about this stage of life (with the title “Internment of the Bishops”) which is deposited in our congregational archives in Brno. 


�	The public learned about the cardinal’s internment only that at his “personal request” he is staying at his hunting lodge where he wants to dedicate himself to uninterrupted work and study and where he has three religious Sisters to serve him. 


�	Among other things, every two hours they asked them what they were doing. 


�	The former prime minister, Monsignor Šrámek, and the former postmaster general, Dr. Hálek, immediately after the Communist putsch tried to get beyond the border; but during their attempt to escape, they were detained and taken away to Kartouz.  Because the state of their health became increasingly precarious and it was not desirable that they would die in prison, it was decided that upon the departure of Archbishop Beran they would both be housed in the boarding school in Roželov.  Two Sisters from the congregation of knights were chosen to serve them, but upon the sudden death of Dr. Hálek both asked to leave. 


�	The new unknown was Myštĕves. 


�	Her departure was one of those mysterious disappearances that characterized the departures of a number of Sisters.  On a night in April 1953 she was called to the office; and when she did not return for a long time, the Sisters pressed the official for her whereabouts.  After a few days of pressure, she disclosed that Valesie was taken away to some church dignitary.  Kvĕtoslava Denková disappeared with her.  About her they alleged that she was arrested for treason and imprisoned and would be in Hejnice.  


�	At the end of August upon the request of her mother, she left the order and went home. 


�	She defended Alena all night and yielded only after twelve men escorts arrived. 


�	Sister Valesie Maliňáková after the transfer to Hodonin (The Sisters already arrived there in 1957) decided to leave the congregation and subsequently to marry to the head of the institution. 


�	This is nicely evident in the testimony of the Sisters from Prague-Asyl and Prague-Výrobna in Chronicle 1950, pp. 97-103. 


�	As a Dominican he had the name Luke. 


�	Officer Blazek declared, “The securing and confining of the Sisters had to take place because together with chaplain Blaise they are subverting the republic.”  This declaration is found in the memoirs of Sister Božislava Palková, OP. 


�	According to the memoirs of Sister Bohdanka Knotová, which she recounted on September 21, 2003 to Sister Benedicta Hübnerová, OP.  Her trial lasted until May 13, 1951; and after four months they were released from Pardubice. Their relatives took them away to the convent. 


�	Sister Bohdanka was barely 21 years old. 


�	He was released from Osek and moved to Krupka not far from Bohosudov. 


�	Paradoxically, on April 8, 1951 a branch was added when four Sisters from Prague were sent to the retirement home in Lukov near Zlin, where together with four Franciscans and a civil official they formed a community.  The good spirit of this home was due to old Ignac Stuchly, the first Czech Salesian and ward of this institution, who not only during his life but after his death (January 17, 1953), as the Sisters believe, looked after the Lukov home.  Our Sisters stayed here until 1954, when the superior from Liptál claimed them.


�	For all the placements of our Sisters besides those in charitable homes, it held true that they were always in a home with other religious women. It would be possible to find out their approximate number and classification in our chronicles.  Often even their names appear here.


�	The Sisters remember how they went to look in at the prisoners and spoke with them through the window on the ground floor of the building.  Concretely they remember a conversation with a former ward from Řepčin who asked about Sisters Imelda, Jiřina, and Božena.  


�	This was a seminary for German priests founded by Cardinal Kopp of Vratislava in 1899 and discontinued March 19, 1945. 


�	The greatest benefactor was the convent of Opava and superior Sister Jona, who regularly brought them food. 


�	The chronicle mentions the daily drudgery of collecting cones and prunings.  It is also interesting that the local community offered them a fallen tree to take away; but after the limbs were sawed off, a peasant came for them.  He chased the Sisters away with threats and hauled off the logs even though they did not belong to him.  Another place mentions the unguarded state forest from which the Sisters cut off whatever they thought would benefit the forest.  Wood shavings, which someone unloaded by the railway station and no longer was concerned about, became another substantial source of fuel.  Chronicle 1951, p. 225.    


�	The announcement about moving reached them on March 2, 1960; but they moved only on May 30, 1960. In the first period they were with Sister Consolers and Sisters of St. Elizabeth.  During the stay in Kadan, more than 200 Sisters died here. 


�	In Bilá Voda more than 300 Sisters from ten congregations were concentrated.


�	Citations are from the text of Sister Božislavá Palková deposited in our archive in Brno.


�	Sister Apolonie left to fill a vacancy in the kitchen in Opava in 1952; Sister Kassiana was transferred to Opava in 1956; Sister Perpetua, who was ill, left on her personal request to Vidnava, where she died in 1955.  After the tragic death of Imelda Heroldová (1956) in Snĕdovice, Sister Vincencie Navrátilova was sent from Bilá Voda to Snĕdovice as superior.  Bonaventura Partková also left with her.  


�	In the old courthouse families of eight religious and more than 100 Sisters came together.  Another community in this town lived in the former factory villa (A community of our younger Sisters lived thus).  Communication between the two communities was forbidden. 


�	Officer Stará (a girl of about 18) was presented to them as their new superior.


�	When superiors came for the Sisters without the permission of the church secretary, they were sent out by the National Government Security members.  


�	The Sisters already started here July 2, 1951.  Most of them worked in the closing room, in accounting and delivery. 


�	The Sisters were lodged in the factory owner’s villa in the neighborhood of an abandoned factory for manufacturing hemp. They worked in a dusty room, the so-called combing room, and in the wet room. 


�	These Sisters left Varnsdorf February 20 with the assumption that the community would again be united, but this did not happen even in spite of the assurance of Mrs. Prečanová from the Government  Office for the Church. 


�	Chronicle 1952, p. 43.


�	After the move the factory wanted reimbursement for the fare for the journey.  The Sisters objected that they did not move voluntarily, but the debt had to be paid by the end of June of the next year. 


�	The Sisters refused to work on Sundays, and they also tried to work overtime so they would be free on holy days. Out of this came many quarrels with the officers as well as the plant. 


�	Not only Mother Kazimíra but also Sister Svatava and others who they thought were superiors or who appeared to be “rebellious” were isolated 


�	February 17, 1955 Sisters Anastázie, Lucie and Hroznata were freed.  And immediately afterwards Sister Václava devised a plan according to which the Sisters were to submit notices to quit and together with these notices to quit present a request to work in a charitable institution (Many of them had belonged to us) in which Dominicans were asking for workhands.  March 5, 1955 Leokadie, Angelika, Karola, Dominika, Judita and Štĕpánka were freed.  In the fall Bertranda, Borgie and Veronika went to charitable institutions, so by the end of the year only 17 Sisters remained in Svoboda.  In April Sister Reginalda was sent to the “unknown.”  Gradually the Sisters in the factories decreased until on December 30, 1959, the last four left:  Slavomíra, Svorada, Fulgencie, and Stella.  


�	According to the text of Sister Božislava Pálková.


�	On the way they stopped at their fellow-Sisters in Lanov and made it know to them that they were split up. 


�	Transportation of many Sisters to the isolation camp in Hejnice.  This affected Invioláta and Dobromila. 


�	Sisters Malvína and Bohdanka and the pastor Malíšek in connection with the Polish priest who tried to cross the state border. 


�	They were supposed to work in 10 factories around Benešov.  And most of them were 


	Vykupitelky (Redemptorist Sisters).


�	From the veranda of this villa the Sisters could get out without permits, and they utilized this opportunity.


�	An exact report of the battles regarding observing holy days and Sundays is brought out in the pertinent congregational chronicle.  Chronicle 1953, pp. 15-20. 


�	According to the text of Sister Božislava Pálková. 


�	Until that time, the officers and church secretaries alarmed them with descriptions of the horrors of interrogations and beatings. 


�	An example is Sister Evangelista, who asked for release to Broumov, but they turned her down. 


�	Observation from the text of Sister Božislava Pálková.


�	Finally general vicar Oliva, who brandished the Scripture (…”and Mary in Bethlehem allowed herself to be registered by the state authority”) came to convince them and bragged about the existence of “patriotic Sisters” who applauded at the priests’ conference for Plojharov.  


�	They left May 21, 1954, but after the conflict with the administrator of the home (apparently she pilfered, but because she had friends no one wanted to accuse her), their community after a stay of four months (March 28, 1954) was dispersed into various charity homes, as determined by our Sister Vaclava. 


�	The Moravian Dr. Antonín Nĕmeček, who liked to take care of the Sisters, was punished in Krásná Lípa. 


�	They worked in the spinning factory, sewing workshop, and weaving room. 


�	They had to go further to the cotton industry in Mezimĕsto.


�	After February 1952. 


�	Toward the end when they were diminishing (thinking of the year 1955), they even added Sisters from other orders.


�	October 1 and October 10, 1951. Chronicle 1951, pp. 219-220.


�	Chronicle 1951, pp. 223-224.


�	Chronicle 1954, p. 22. 


�	Chronicle 1954, p. 23.


�	Chronicle 1952, pp. 44-46.


�	Among ours was Svatava Býčková. Chronicle 1952, pp. 38-29. 


�	Most of the Sisters were told that a lawsuit was going on in which they were involved, and until all the circumstances were verified, they would be isolated in Hejnice.  A nice illustration arose in Broumov, where four men arrived to “arrest” the Sisters.  Our Sister Severina along with the rest ran to the entrance so she could shield the superiors, but she did not notice that she had a hatchet from the farm in her hand (before this she had been chopping wood). The men stiffened, hid in the alcoves of the wall, and called to the superiors to make order.  When all was calm, they promised them that the Sisters would return soon. In the chronicle on pp. 37-44, details are mentioned in individual cases of Sisters carried away.  


�	Counting also the nuns and Slovakians.  In Hejnice there were from the congregation Mother Kazimíra along with Sisters Inviolata, Svatava, Blahoslava, Berta, Valesie, Dobromila, Kvĕtoslava, Alena and Ludmila. 


�	At night the house was illuminated with searchlights, and the lower corridors were fully lighted.  The Sisters had orders not to look out of the windows or open them as well as not to go out into the garden and the yard.  They could write only according to a correspondence list (easily censored; there were also forbidden themes such as the situation in the house, the condition of other Sisters, etc.), and many letters to them were confiscated.  Packages were examined so thoroughly that often their contents were deteriorated (culminating in cut up soap, broken up cake, and cracked nuts).  Passing out the packages was also humiliating. 


�	It was producing toys, cleaning cloth, and top-stitching handkerchiefs.


�	It was unusual that old and sick Sisters were also among those destined for Osek.  Our Sisters Kazimíra, Ludmila, Berta, Mlada, Blahoslava, and Dobromila were transferred there.  


�	Besides Mother Kazimíra, they also took Berta and Ludmila back to Hejnic.


�	Here Sister Dobromila had charge of the storerooms, which were full of items brought from the convents.   


�	They were Svatava, Kvĕta, Alena, and Inviolata; and later Mother Kazimíra came to them once more. 


�	The convent was already given over to them on March 22, 1955. 


�	Where there were institutions for the mentally deficient, the Sisters could even teach, but only as state employees.  This case concerned Střelice and Vícemĕřice, where the Sisters were paid as teachers. 


�	Chronicle 1955, p. 41.  Here there is an account of a dispute between the Sisters in Opava who still had students in individual music lessons allowed by the state and the representatives of the charitable institutions and the state institution for church supervision.  This dispute was finally settled by forbidding the lessons and transferring the children to the music school.  Even the interventions of their parents did not help.  It was similar in other places.  


�	They were mostly the classes of 1931 or 1930. 


�	The institutions named are in the year 1951. 


�	In 1952 it was the oldest Sisters whose established home was moved to Opava (the novitiate of the Franciscan Sisters) to make room for the tribunal and MNV [Mĕstský Národny Výbor, Municipal People’s Committee]. 


�	According to regulations, the land was to be purchased in 1952; but the Sisters never received the money.   


�	This was the instruction of the MSP [Ministeřstvo Stravy a Potřeby, Ministry of Consumer Goods]. 


�	One of the victims of this system of visits was our Mother, who set out after the Sisters in the factories (Varnsdorf) but was ejected and taken to a border district patrolled by the National Government Security.. 


�	Chronicle 1957, pp. 18-22. 


�	Supplement numbers, 1, 2, 3. 


�	Sister Pavlina’s freedom was taken away for five years, Vladislava for four and a half years.  Mr. Chromčák and his brother for two years. 


�	She was received as a foundling, whom they brought frostbitten in a fertilizer hod.  Even with every care of the Sisters, she finished only grade school; and when Sister Pavlína came to Bojkovice she left to go to her family, where she became mentally ill and received psychiatric treatment in Opava. 


�	Not everyone went to Buchlovice.  Some of them were scattered to Jesenec, Vícemĕřice, Kokory, Snědovice, and Broumov.  The local people took the denouncement part very hard. It even introduced a certain resentment into relationships with the Sisters.  


�	Chronicle 1951, p. 284. 


�	She belonged to the group of older Sisters. 


�	Chronicle 1952, p. 33. 


�	Chronicle 1952, p. 62. 


�	Chronicle 1954, p. 21. 


�	Chronicle 1955, p. 29. 


�	Chronicle 1956, p. 22. 


�	Chronicle 1957, p. 18 


�	At least the earlier chronicles have them. 


�	In this place it is necessary to introduce our home in Střelice, which Charita confiscated from the Sisters immediately after the appearance of the co-operative—going on 70 years. 


�	The work in the area concerns the hop-plant workteam of Sisters not far from Rakovnik. 


�	After all, even this new generation grows out of the past although it does not know about the connection of its little history with the whole.  And perhaps today’s condition is in many ways an echo of what happened to us.  







